2007

Larae Jensen nka Larae Thorpe v. Raymond Jensen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Did The Trial Court Err In Only Awarding The Respondent Alimony In An Amount Of \$2,581.00 And Only For A Period Of 5 Years?

Standard of review: The Court of Appeals will disturb an award of alimony and it's duration is a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion.

Appeal Preservation: Appellant raised this issue at trial. (T.454,456,529-536)

II. Did The Trial Court Err In Not Enforcing The Parties Stipulation To Sell The Marital Home And Divide The Equity?

Standard of Review: The Court of Appeals reviews the Trial Court's decision to disregard the parties' stipulation in court agreed by parties and their attorneys on the record under a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion. Further, the Court of Appeals will disturb a Trial Court's ruling if there has been an error in regard to the law.

Appeal Preservation: Appellant raised this issue at trial. (T. 422-427)

III. Did The Trial Court Err In Ordering The Personal Property Sold?

Standard of Review: The Court of Appeals reviews property distribution under a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion.

Appeal Preservation: Appellant raised this issue at trial. (T. 419-422)

IV. Did The Trial Court Err In Ordering The Respondent To Pay One Half Of The Back Payments On The Arizona Condo?

Standard of Review: The Court of Appeals reviews on an abuse of discretion standard.

Appeal Preservation: This issue was raised at the trial by Petitioner. (T.)

V. Did The Trial Court Err In Failing To Award Respondent Retroactive Alimony?

Standard of Review: The Court of Appeal reviews under an abuse of discretion and will disturb the award if the abuse is clear.

Appeal Preservation: This issue was raised at trial. (T.405)

VI. Did The Trial Court Err In Failing To Set Aside Portions Of The Minute Entry Dated September 29, 2006?

Standard of Review: Abuse of discretion.

Appeal Preservation: This issue was raised by Respondent in her Motion to Set Aside. (R-1557-1560)

VII. Did the Trial Court Err In Not Awarding To Respondent Some Of Her Attorney's Fees?

Standard of Review: Abuse of discretion

Appeal Preservation: This issue was raised at trial. (T. 538)

**CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES,
ORDINANCES, RULES, AND REGULATIONS**

U.C.A. 30-3-5(8)(a) through 8(d)

(8)(a) The court shall consider at least the following factors in determining alimony:

- (i) the financial condition and needs of the recipient spouse;
 - (ii) the recipient's earning capacity or ability to produce income;
 - (iii) the ability of the payor spouse to provide support;
 - (iv) the length of the marriage;
 - (v) whether the recipient spouse has custody of minor children requiring support;
 - (vi) whether the recipient spouse worked in a business owned or operated by the payor spouse; and
 - (vii) whether the recipient spouse directly contributed to any increase in the payor spouse's skill by paying for education received by the payor spouse or allowing the payor spouse to attend school during the marriage.
- (b) The court may consider the fault of the parties in determining alimony.
- (c) As a general rule, the court should look to the standard of living, existing at the time of separation, in determining alimony in accordance with Subsection

(8)(a). However, the court shall consider all relevant facts and equitable principles and may, in its discretion, base alimony on the standard of living that existed at the time of trial. In marriages of short duration, when no children have been conceived or born during the marriage, the court may consider the standard of living that existed at the time of the marriage.

(d) The court may, under appropriate circumstances, attempt to equalize the parties' respective standards of living.

U.C.A. 30-3-3 (1) and (3)

(1) In any action filed under Title 30, Chapter 3, 4, or 6, and in any action to establish an order of custody, parent-time, child support, alimony, or division of property in a domestic case, the court may order a part to pay the costs, attorney fees, and witness fees, including expert witness fees, of the other party to enable the other party to prosecute or defend the action. The order may include provision for costs of the action.

. . .

(3) In any action listed in Subsection (1), the court may order a party to provide money, during the pendency of the action, for the separate support and maintenance of the other party and of any children in the custody of the other party.

U.C.A. 78-45-3(1)

(1) Every father shall support his child and every child shall be presumed to be in need of the support of his father. Every man shall support his wife when she is in need.

U.C.A. 78-45-7.5(7)(a)

(7)(a) Income may not be imputed to a parent unless the parent stipulates to the amount imputed, the parent defaults, or, in contested cases, a hearing is held and the judge in a judicial proceeding or the presiding officer in an administrative proceeding enters findings of fact as to the evidentiary basis for the imputation.

Rule 60(a) and (b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

(a) Clerical Mistakes. Clerical mistakes in judgments, orders or other parts of the record and errors therein arising from oversight or omission may be corrected by the court at any time of its own initiative or on the motion of any party and after such notice, if any, as the court orders. During the pendency of an appeal, such mistakes may be so corrected before the appeal is docketed in the appellate court, and thereafter while the appeal is pending may be so corrected with leave of the appellate court.

(b) Mistakes; Inadvertence; Excusable Neglect; Newly Discovered Evidence; Fraud, etc. On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a part or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b); (3) fraud (whether heretofore denominated intrinsic or extrinsic), misrepresentation or other misconduct of an adverse party; (4) the judgment is void; (5) the judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application; or (6) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment. The motion shall be made within a reasonable time and for reasons (1), (2), or (3), not more than 3 months after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken. A motion under this Subdivision (b) does not affect the finality of a judgment or suspend its operation. This rule does not limit the power of a court to entertain an independent action to relieve a party from a judgment, order or proceeding or to set aside a judgment for fraud upon the court. The procedure for obtaining any relief from a judgment shall be by motion as prescribed in these rules or by an independent action.

STATEMENT OF CASE

Nature of the Case: The Respondent and Petitioner, were married December 5th, 1987 and had two daughters. The Respondent worked and helped the Petitioner finished

college during the first part of the marriage and thereafter he supported the family and the Respondent was a stay at home mom except for a few months in 2001-2002 when she worked at Southwest Airlines. From April 2002 until the trial the Responded was unemployed and suffering from depression. Prior to the trial the parties settled the issues regarding the minor children and the issues at trial related to property and alimony. After the trial the Trial Court awarded alimony of \$2,581 for only a period of five years, denied awarding any retroactive alimony, ordered the Respondent to repay to the Petitioner \$13,152 that he had paid as temporary alimony as payments on the Arizona condo, divided the retirement accounts in half, ordered all of the personal property in both parties homes sold, refused to enforce the terms of the stipulation entered into by the parties in open court regarding the sale of the marital home in Murray, Utah and adopted the Petitioner's value of said home and then divided the equity in both the marital home and the Arizona condo, and denied Respondent any attorney fees.

Course of Proceedings: The Petitioner filed a Verified Petition for Divorce on August 21, 2003 (R. 1-6). Petitioner then filed a Motion for Temporary Orders along with his Affidavit and Financial Declaration on the 26th of February, 2004 (R. 10-27). The Respondent obtained new counsel and filed her Motion for Relief, Affidavit and Financial Declaration on the 8th of March, 2004 (R. 30-48). A hearing was held on the

13th of April, 2004, and the Court entered an Order on temporary orders on the 26th of April, 2004; however, reserving the issues of child support and temporary alimony (R. 182-184). Another hearing was held on the 11th of June, 2004, and an Order from said hearing was entered by the Court on the 22nd of July, 2004 (R. 491-494). The Court took under advisement the issues of temporary alimony and temporary child support and on the 2nd of August, 2004 entered its Minute Entry (R. 576-580) and an Order from said Minute Entry was entered by the Court on the 24th of August, 2004 wherein the Petitioner was ordered to pay temporary alimony in the sum of \$2,859.00 per month effective June 11, 2004. The Respondent was ordered to pay child support in the sum of \$112.00 (R. 161-168). Another hearing was held on the 21st of September, 2004 and the Court entered its Minute Entry (R. 739-740) and an Order was entered on the 7th of February, 2006 in regard to the September 21, 2004 Minute Entry (R. 1369-1371) wherein the issue of who would make the condo payment was left to Judge Fratto because the Commissioner did not make any further recommendation in that regard. Petitioner filed a Motion to Amend the Temporary Orders and for Order for Payment of Mortgage on Arizona Condo (R. 1273-1274). A hearing was held on the 8th of December, 2005 wherein the issue regarding the mortgage payment was taken under advisement (R. 1355). The Court entered a Minute Entry (R. 1357-1368) wherein the Petitioner was ordered to continue to maintain the mortgage payment on the Arizona condo which he had been doing since the

initial Order on Temporary Orders and said issue was subject to review and redistribution at the time of trial. The Trial was held on June 28 and June 29, 2006 with the final day of trial on July 21, 2006 (R. 1435-1438 and R. 1450). The Petitioner filed a Motion to Set Aside the Stipulation to Sell Real Property on the 18th of July, 2006 (R. 1444-1446) and the Court entered its decision on the 21st of August, 2006 (R. 1456-1457). Respondent filed a Motion for Consideration of Additional Issues and Memorandum for Attorney's Fees on the 29th of August, 2006 (R. 1458-1476). On the 29th of September, 2006, the Court entered a Minute Entry (R. 1543-1544). A hearing was held on Respondent's Objections to the proposed Findings and Minutes were entered by the Court on the 20th of February, 2007 (R. 1556). Respondent immediately filed a Motion to Set Aside portions of the Minute Entry from September 29, 2006 on the 21st of February, 2007 (R. 1560) and filed a Notice to Submit said Motion to Set Aside on the 14th of March, 2007 (R. 1561). A hearing was held on the 2nd of April 2007 and the Court denied the Motion to Set Aside or to modify the Minute Entry (R. 1594) and an Order was entered by the Court on the 20th of April, 2007 (R. 1604-1604). The Decree of Divorce was entered on the 4th of April, 2007 (R. 1595-1599) and a Notice of Appeal was filed on the 12th of April, 2007 (R. 1600).

Disposition Below: The Trial Court entered a Decree of Divorce reducing the alimony and only awarding alimony for five (5) years, denied retroactive alimony, failed

to comply with the Stipulation of the parties in regard to the sale of the marital home, ordered the personal property sold, ordered Respondent to pay Petitioner for back payments of temporary alimony for the Arizona condo, did not award either party attorney's fees and denied Respondent's Motion to Set Aside the Minute Entry of September 29, 2006. The Trial Court failed to make adequate findings in regard to the duration of the alimony for only five years, the reduction of needs by the Respondent, the reduction of alimony, why retroactive alimony was not awarded, and why Respondent should pay ½ of condo payments prior to the divorce.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties were married on the 5th of December, 1987, and separated on the 23rd of June, 2003 (T. 217). At the time of the parties' separation the Respondent was unemployed and the Petitioner was employed by Liberty Dialysis earning \$10,000.00 per month or \$120,000.00 per year (T. 219, 378). During the first three (3) years of the marriage the Respondent worked to allow the Petitioner to finish college but thereafter was a stay-at-home Mother for approximately 16 years except for a few months when she was employed with Southwest Airlines earning \$8.00 per hour from August of 2001 to April of 2002 to obtain medical insurance for the minor children since the Petitioner was changing employment (T. 73 and 74). At the time of the trial in this matter the Respondent was 44 years old with a high school diploma and an Associate Degree from

Salt Lake Community College (T. 377). In December of 2001, the Respondent suffered an anaphylactic reaction of a pneumonia vaccine and was given additional medications including oxycontin for her pain. She took a medical leave of absence from Southwest Airlines in April of 2002 and was on medication for approximately one year and then on the 2nd of June 2002 she was admitted to the University of Utah Neuropsychiatric Unit to detox and get off oxycontin and the other medications that she was given for chronic neck pain as a result of the anaphylactic reaction (T. 390-391). In June of 2003 the Respondent suffered from a major depressive disorder and within a few weeks of being released from the University of Utah Neuropsychiatric Unit on the 10th of June, 2003, the parties separated and the Petitioner took the two minor daughters and for a period of three (3) years thereafter refused to allow the Respondent to be involved with her minor daughters or to visit with them, alienated the daughters' affections from their mother even though the Respondent had raised the two minor children as a stay-at-home Mother prior to her illness (T. 386-398).

From the time of the parties' separation in June of 2003 until the time of the trial in June of 2006, a period of three years, the Respondent suffered from major depression disorder due to her separation from her daughters caused by the Petitioner and her lack of visitation with them and her perception of the daughters' affection toward her being alienated by the Petitioner. In March of 2004 she became a patient of Dr. Mausberg, a

psychiatrist, who testified at the time of the trial that she was completely disabled and unable to perform any type of full-time employment functions (T. 266-279). The fact that the Respondent lost contact with her daughters although she continually tried to re-establish the same was devastating to her (T. 291). Respondent also was treated by Dr. Michael Brunson, a psychologist from July of 2004 to the present who also testified at the trial that the Respondent was very depressed, that the Respondent had a horrendous sleep disturbance, a very depressed anxious mood, and due to the stalking by the Petitioner and the non-involvement with her two teenage daughters for the past three years was having a great impact upon the Respondent and she was unable to work full-time due to her psychological disorders (T. 303-306). Both Dr. Mausberg and Dr. Brunson testified that the Respondent's depression and mood disorder may improve in the future when the impact of the whole experience of losing her children and going through the divorce was behind her (T. 284-285, 305-306).

At the time of the separation of the parties in June of 2003, the parties were living on an income of \$10,000.00 per month generated by the Petitioner, and the Respondent was unemployed and generated no income (T. 219). A hearing on Motions on Temporary Orders was heard on the 11th of June, 2004 and the Honorable Michael S. Evans entered a Minute Entry on the 2nd of August, 2004, wherein the Court found that Respondent's needs at the time of the separation in June of 2003 was approximately \$3,771.00, and

imputed income to the Respondent of minimum wage of \$893.00 per month resulting in a net of \$800.00 per month income to the Respondent, and based thereon, awarded to the Respondent temporary alimony of \$2,859.00 to meet her unmet living expenses effective June 11, 2004 (R. 576-579). Respondent's claim for retroactive alimony from the time of separation of June of 2003 to June 11, 2004, a period of one year was reserved (R. 579). Further, in said Minute Entry the Court found that the Petitioner's alleged expenses were over-stated and that he had an ability to contribute the \$2,859.00 in temporary alimony to the Respondent (R. 578). At the time of the trial the Respondent had incurred additional debt since the time of separation in the sum of \$40,617.00 and her monthly living expenses was \$5,743.00 (T. 401, Respondent's Exhibit 36). Respondent requested a judgment for the retroactive alimony from June of 2003 to June of 2004 in the amount of \$34,308.00 (T. 405 and Respondent's Exhibit 37). The Petitioner's monthly expenses at the time of the trial (Petitioner's Exhibit 18) was approximately the same as his monthly expenses at the time of the separation (R. 23) except for an additional auto payment of \$441.00 for a new vehicle and a \$240.00 per month payment on debts (R. 23, Exhibit 18, T. 219, 243-247). The Petitioner alleged in his Verified Petition for Divorce (T. 7) and in his Motion and Affidavit for Temporary Orders (R. 15) that the Respondent's imputed income was \$1,500.00 per month which is approximately \$8.65 per hour.

The parties' stipulated in open Court on the 29th of July, 2007, in regard to the Arizona condo and the marital home in Murray, Utah, that the Respondent would be awarded the Arizona condo with equity of \$126,000.00 and that the Petitioner would be awarded an extra \$63,000.00 from the proceeds received from the sale of the Murray home, and that the Murray home would be listed for sale and each party would be awarded one-half of the net equity proceeds received from the sale (T. 422-426). Both parties and their attorneys agreed in open Court to said stipulation and the Court approved the same. The Petitioner on the 18th of July, 2006 filed a Motion to Set Aside said Stipulation to sell the real property (R. 1444-1446) and said Motion was argued at the closing argument by the parties on the 21st of July, 2006 (Page 501, T. 516-518). Contrary to the Respondent's argument relating to the Motion to Set Aside the Stipulation the Court entered a Ruling in regard to its decision on the 21st of August, 2006, totally ignoring the Stipulation of the parties and valued the Murray home based upon the appraisal of Jerry Weber of \$440,000.00. The Respondent's expert witness, Laurie Ladeau, testified that the value of the Murray home was \$609,908.00 (T. 319-330, Respondent Exhibit 23). The Court then, in its ruling, on pages 33 and 34 (T. 1610) ordered that both the condo in Arizona and the marital home in Murray, Utah, be sold when the youngest child reaches the age of 18 or graduates from high school. The Court then entered a Minute Entry on the 26th of September 2006 (T. 1543 and 1544) wherein

the Court granted the Motion to Set Aside the Stipulation.

In July of 2002 the parties purchased the condominium in Arizona and signed under penalties of civil and criminal liability a Uniform Residential Loan Application wherein both parties agreed that the value of the household furniture and personal property located at the Murray home was valued at \$100,000.00 (T. 409, Respondent's Exhibit 41). The Respondent testified that the value of the parties' marital property in the Arizona condominium was \$15,000.00 (T. 421, Respondent's Exhibit 46).

The Petitioner paid the mortgage payments on the Arizona condo from June of 2004 until the time of the trial pursuant to a temporary Order in the sum of approximately \$1300 per month or a total of \$26,300.00 (T. 226 and 228). Both parties filed Affidavits of Attorney's Fees (R. 1463-1476, 1479-1483).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Did The Trial Court Err In Only Awarding The Respondent Alimony In An Amount Of \$2,581.00 And Only For A Period Of 5 Years?

The Respondent respectfully argues that the Trial Court abused its discretion in reducing the amount of alimony and only awarding alimony for five years in a long-tem marriage. The Trial Court used the wrong standard in determining Respondent's income and failed to make adequate findings as to the imputed income and the reduction of

Respondent's needs. The Trial Court also failed to equalize the standard of living under the appropriate circumstances.

II. Did The Trial Court Err In Not Enforcing The Parties Stipulation To Sell The Marital Home And Divide The Equity?

The Trial Court erred in disregarding the Stipulation entered into by the parties and their attorneys in open court to sell the house in Murray, Utah to determine its equity.

III. Did The Trial Court Err In Ordering The Personal Property Sold?

The Trial Court abused its discretion by ordering the sale of the furniture and furnishings in both homes, when there was sufficient evidence as to its value.

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