2007

Larae Jensen , nka Larae Thorpe v. Raymond Jensen : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court made adequate findings in regard to the required elements of an alimony analysis. The trial court analyzed Ms. Jensen's needs and ability to meet her needs as well as Mr. Jensen's ability to pay. The trial court made specific findings concerning Ms. Jensen's monthly needs and that Ms. Jensen had overstated and exaggerated certain claims for expenses. The trial court also made specific findings as to Ms. Jensen's ability to meet her needs when imputing income to her. Ms. Jensen fails to

marshal any evidence to show that the factual findings of the trial court are clearly erroneous.

The trial court correctly set aside the stipulation to immediately sell the home where Mr. Jensen and the minor child resided and appropriately valued the home consistent with the appraised value. Trial courts have broad discretion to deal with property in a divorce action. The trial court heard evidence of the value of the home by way of a certified appraisal. The trial court rejected the value claimed by Ms. Jensen and valued the home pursuant to the appraisal. The trial court determined that the best interests of the minor child were served by granting Mr. Jensen's motion to set aside the stipulation to immediately sell the home where he and the minor child resided. Ms. Jensen fails to demonstrate that the trial court abused its broad discretion.

The trial court correctly determined that there was insufficient evidence as to the value of the parties' personal property and ordered that the personal property would be sold and the proceeds divided equally. Ms. Jensen has failed to marshal any evidence to show that the trial court abused its considerable discretion in regard to the property division.

The trial court appropriately considered that Mr. Jensen had made the payments on the Arizona condominium during the pendency of the matter while Ms. Jensen had exclusive use and possession of the property. The issue of the apportionment of those payments was specifically reserved as a trial issue. The trial court adjusted the division of the equity in the marital property to repay Mr. Jensen one-half of those payments. Ms.

Jensen has failed to marshal any evidence to demonstrate that the trial court's findings are clearly erroneous and that the trial court abused its discretion in regard to the property division.

The trial court correctly determined that Ms. Jensen failed to present adequate evidence supporting her claim for retroactive alimony. Ms. Jensen has failed to marshal any evidence to demonstrate that the trial court's finding that there was insufficient evidence was clearly erroneous.

The trial court exercised its broad discretion in denying Ms. Jensen's Rule 60 Motion. Ms. Jensen has failed to establish that the trial court abused its discretion. Additionally, the question is so insubstantial as to warrant no further review.

The trial court correctly determined that no attorney fees were to be awarded to either party. Each party requested fees arguing they were the prevailing party. The trial court denied each party's request for fees, finding that there was insufficient evidence to support an award of fees. Ms. Jensen has failed to marshal any evidence to demonstrate that the trial court's findings were clearly erroneous. Further, Ms. Jensen has failed to establish that the trial court abused its discretion in its failure to award fees.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT MADE ADEQUATE FINDINGS OF FACT WHEN AWARDING MS. JENSEN \$2,581.00 PER MONTH ALIMONY FOR A PERIOD OF FIVE YEARS

"Trial courts have considerable discretion in determining alimony, and determinations of alimony will be upheld on appeal unless a clear and prejudicial abuse

of discretion is demonstrated”. Davis v. Davis, 2003 UT App. 282, ¶7, 76 P.3d 716 (alterations omitted)(quoting Breinholt v. Breinholt, 905 P.2d 877, 879 (Utah Ct. App. 1995). “In determining whether to award alimony and in setting the amount, a trial court must consider the needs of the recipient spouse; the earning capacity of the recipient spouse; the ability of the obligor spouse to provide support; and, the length of the marriage.” Rehn v. Rehn, 1999 UT App 41, ¶6, 974 P.2d 306. “If these factors have been considered, we will not disturb the trial court’s alimony award unless such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion.” Kelley v. Kelley, 2000 UT App 236, ¶26, 9 P.3d 171.

In this case, the trial court made specific findings concerning each of the required elements in making an award of alimony. Specifically, the trial court found that Ms. Jensen had reasonable monthly needs of \$4,000.00.

Respondent has monthly needs of \$4,000.00. Respondent set forth her needs in her Exhibit 36 at \$4,704.00, not including payment of debt. The Court finds that Respondent failed to demonstrate the existence of much of her claimed debt and failed to demonstrate that she would not be able to satisfy any actual debt from her share of the division of assets. As such, no monthly debt payments are included in Respondent’s monthly needs. The Court reduces Respondent’s claimed needs of \$4,704.00 by \$704.00 finding that claimed expenses for window cleaning, food and household supplies, personal hygiene, health and auto insurance, an automobile lease that she does not have, clothing, psychiatrist, storage, and health club are overstated and exaggerated. As such, the Court finds that Respondent’s reasonable monthly needs are \$4,000.00 and after deduction of \$1,409.00 per month Respondent has a monthly shortfall of \$2,581.00.

R. 1581 ¶35. Ms. Jensen argues that the trial court failed to indicate how it arrived at the \$4,000.00 per month because that amount was not consistent with Ms. Jensen’s argument

at trial as to her monthly needs. However, a review of the trial court's finding clearly shows that, for alimony purposes, the court determined that Ms. Jensen's claimed debt payments would not be included and that her monthly expenses would be reduced by \$704.00 for overstated and exaggerated expenses. Ms. Jensen's argument that the trial court failed to make a specific finding is inaccurate.

To the extent that Ms. Jensen is arguing that the trial court's finding as to her monthly needs is unsupported by the evidence presented, as the party seeking to challenge the finding of fact Ms. Jensen is obligated to marshal the evidence to show that the finding of fact is unsupported by the evidence before the court. "An appellant must first marshal all the evidence in support of the finding and then demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding even when viewing it in a light most favorable to the court below." Chen v. Stewart, 2004 UT 82, ¶76, 100 P.3d 1177. An appellant "must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings the appellant resists." Id. at ¶77. Additionally, a party cannot just "re-argue the factual case [she] presented in the trial court." Id. In this case, Ms. Jensen merely re-argues her evidence presented at trial and concludes that the trial court should have made a different determination. Ms. Jensen argues that the trial court should have relied on a different exhibit than the one the trial court relied on despite the fact that the exhibit (Exhibit 36) was prepared by Ms. Jensen and offered by Ms. Jensen as illustrative of her testimony as to her current expected expenses. T. 402. The trial court considered the exhibits offered, including the exhibit

that Ms. Jensen argues on appeal it should have relied on, and Ms. Jensen's testimony then made detailed findings of fact as to the calculation of Ms. Jensen's monthly needs. Ms. Jensen has failed to marshal any evidence to show that the finding of fact made by the trial court is clearly erroneous.

Next, Ms. Jensen claims that the trial court erred by imputing income to her in an amount consistent with her most recent employment rather than at just minimum wage. Ms. Jensen's argument is that because the Commissioner imputed only minimum wage to her for purposes of the temporary alimony award, therefore, the trial court erred by imputing income to her in a higher amount. The trial court made detailed findings indicating that Ms. Jensen was underemployed. The trial court considered the testimony of Ms. Jensen's expert witnesses and determined that her claimed disability from depression was insufficient to render Ms. Jensen incapable of work.

Respondent is currently unemployed and/or underemployed. Respondent claims that she suffers from depression which precludes her from working at all. The Court finds that Respondent suffers from a situational depression consistent with the testimony of Dr. Mausberg. Respondent's situation that causes the depression is the current divorce action and by resolution of the divorce action, the depression will be reduced. Additionally, Dr. Mausberg testified, and the Court finds credible, that the depression is not permanent or chronic and that Respondent can obtain counseling and medication that helps to relieve the depression.

The Court further finds that whatever depression Respondent suffers from does not render her unable to work. The Court finds that she has the ability to work and that she has the ability to function. Respondent has the ability to work on her father's affairs, the ability to travel, and the ability to maintain a household. The Court finds that these abilities demonstrate her ability to engage in employment.

R. 1580 ¶¶32 & 33. Further, the trial court considered the evidence before it that during the pendency of the divorce action, Ms. Jensen worked full time as a distributor for a vitamin company, T. 74-76, that she was not seeking employment because of the divorce action and her other lawsuits, T. 79-81, that she previously testified that she did not suffer from depression that rendered her unable to work, T. 82, that she had been working under an assumed name for a company involved in her father's business, T. 105-106, and that she had instructed her mother to keep information as to her working secret so as to not lose her alimony. T. 108. The trial court also considered the direct contradictions between Ms. Jensen's deposition testimony and her trial testimony in regard to her employment and the reasons why she did not have employment. Based upon that evidence, the trial court made detailed findings of fact that Ms. Jensen was in fact capable of employment. R. 1580 ¶¶32 & 33. Ms. Jensen fails to marshal any evidence to demonstrate that the trial court's findings of fact in regard to Ms. Jensen's underemployment are clearly erroneous.

Ms. Jensen then argues that the amount the trial court imputed to her is erroneous because her employment with Southwest Airlines was of short duration. Ms. Jensen argues that the short duration of the employment is dispositive of her claim that the trial court erred. Once again, the trial court made a detailed finding with regard to the determination to impute income to Ms. Jensen in that amount.

The Court finds that income should be imputed to Respondent based upon her past employment with Southwest Airlines where she earned \$8.25 per hour. Although during the marriage Respondent was not generally employed outside the home, she was employed at points in time and was

employed by Southwest Airlines. Although the employment with Southwest was of a fairly short duration, the Court finds that employment to be the benchmark of her ability to earn an income and finds that she can earn, and will be imputed with, income of \$8.25 per hour which equals \$1,409.00 per month.

R. 1581 ¶34. Ms. Jensen fails again to marshal the evidence to show that there is no support for the imputation of income at an amount higher than minimum wage. The trial court considered the testimony of Ms. Jensen concerning her full time employment selling vitamins and her testimony that she had been working under an assumed name in conjunction with the evidence that the job, to which Ms. Jensen had admitted, she had earned \$8.25 per hour. Ms. Jensen has failed to demonstrate why the trial court's findings are without evidentiary support and thus are clearly erroneous.

Finally, Ms. Jensen argues that the trial court abused its discretion in setting an alimony award for a period of five years. The trial court made a detailed finding as to the basis for setting the award for a definite time frame.

The Court finds that alimony to Respondent shall be awarded for a period of five years from the date of the Court's oral ruling, August 21, 2006. The Court finds that due to the age of the parties that if the alimony period were longer than five years, Respondent would become older and rely only on the alimony for her support and that such reliance would be a disservice to her. The Court finds that Respondent has the ability to use the period of five years to put her house in order and be able to support herself at that time.

R. 1581-82 ¶36. Ms. Jensen argues that the trial court abused its discretion in setting a definite period for alimony yet fails to marshal any evidence to show that the trial court's findings are clearly erroneous. A trial court's considerable discretion will not be

overturned absent clear and prejudicial abuse of that discretion. Davis, 2003 UT App. 282 at ¶7.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN SETTING ASIDE THE STIPULATION OF THE PARTIES TO SELL THE HOME AND DIVIDING THE EQUITY BASED UPON THE APPRAISED VALUE

Ms. Jensen argues that the trial court erred by setting aside the stipulation to immediately sell the Murray home because it failed to articulate justifiable cause for granting the motion to set aside the stipulation. Utah law abounds with support for the proposition that a trial court retains authority to accept or reject the stipulation of parties in any divorce proceeding. “Property settlements are not binding upon trial courts in divorce proceedings.” Nunley v. Nunley, 757 P.2d 473, 475 (Utah Ct. App. 1988), citing Clausen v. Clausen, 675 P.2d 562, 564 (Utah 1988) (“a property settlement agreement is not binding upon the trial court in a divorce action”). “It is well recognized that the parties’ stipulation as to property rights in a divorce action, although advisory and usually followed unless the court finds it to be unfair or unreasonable, is not necessarily binding on the trial court. It is only a recommendation to be adhered to if the court believes it to be fair and reasonable.” Dayton v. Dayton, 2003 UT App 205, ¶2. Trial courts have discretion to invalidate settlement agreements made by divorcing parties on grounds that the property allocation is inequitable. See, e.g., Nunley, 757 P.2d at 475 (affirming trial court’s rejection of divorce settlement agreement where settlement agreement was inequitable); Clausen, 675 P.2d at 565 (affirming trial court’s rejection of divorce settlement agreement that inequitably divided real property acquired during the

marriage); Colman v. Colman, 743 P.2d 782, 789 (Utah 1987) (no abuse of discretion in trial court's decision to disregard property settlement agreement made in anticipation of divorce). "Thus, the general principle derived from our case law is that spouses...may make binding contracts with each other and arrange their affairs as they see fit, insofar as the negotiations are conducted in good faith . . . and do not unreasonably constrain the court's equitable and statutory duties." Reese v. Reese, 1999 UT 75 ¶ 25, 984 P.2d 987, 994-95.

The trial court has wide latitude in this area and its decision to vacate the terms of divorcing parties' stipulation or settlement agreement will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion. See, e.g., Nunley, 757 P.2d at 475; Clausen, 675 P.2d at 565; Colman, 743 P.2d at 789; Dayton, 2003 UT App. 205 at ¶2 ("This court reviews a trial court's decision to modify a stipulated division of property in a divorce action for an abuse of discretion"). In this case, Mr. Jensen moved the Court to reject the parties' stipulation to immediately sell the Murray home due to the best interests of the parties' remaining minor child. Ms. Jensen filed no opposition to the motion and the Court determined that the best interests of the minor child were served by delaying any required sale of the real property. Ms. Jensen has failed to marshal any evidence to support her assertion that the trial court did not have any justifiable basis to set aside the stipulation of the parties.

Ms. Jensen further argues that the trial court erred in valuing the Murray home at \$440,000.00 which was consistent with the appraised value rather than at \$609,000.00

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